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Management submits their report and the financial statements of BMW US 
Capital, LLC (“BMW US Capital” or “the Company”) for the period ended 
December 31, 2024.

Principal activities
The Company was formed on January 14, 1993, and until December 31, 2000, 
was a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW (US) Holding Corp., which is ulti-
mately owned by Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft (BMW AG). 
Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted a legal structure permitted 
under the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act dated August 1, 1999, 
and became a limited liability company whose sole member is BMW (US) 
Holding Corp, which is ultimately owned by BMW AG. The conversion of the 
Company to a Limited Liability Company (LLC) did not have any effect on 
the liabilities or obligations of the organization and did not constitute dis-
solution of the converting entity. The Company’s purpose is to assist in the 
financing of business activities and in managing interest and foreign ex-
change risk for BMW Group and its affiliates, primarily in the U.S., and to 
provide services in connection therewith.

The Company’s activities primarily consist of providing long and short term 
liquidity, inter-company funding, factoring of receivables at arm’s length for 
BMW Group companies, being the leader of the US Dollar cash pool, and 
operating as the in-house bank for USD, CAD and MXN for the BMW Group. 
The Company aims to minimize the risks from changes in interest rates and 
foreign exchange rates. Protection against such risks is primarily provided 
by hedging through financial instruments with matching maturities, amounts 
and other properties. Derivative financial instruments are used, such as 
interest rate swaps, foreign exchange swaps and forward rate agreements, 
to reduce the risk remaining after netting.

Business review
The BMW Group maintained its strong market position in the global premium 
segment in 2024 with sales up in both Europe and the USA. The BMW brand 
gained further market share in Europe, grew sales in the USA and main-
tained its leading position in China. Globally, the BMW brand was the  leader 
in the premium segment. While model changeovers at MINI and Rolls Royce 
led to an expected downturn in delivery figures, the BMW Group’s all- electric 
automobiles (BEV) continued to perform well and accounted for 17.4% 
(2023: 14.7%) of total deliveries. The BMW Group is therefore pressing ahead 
with the ramp-up of electric mobility as planned. BMW Motorrad achieved 
a new record for deliveries in 2024. The Financial Services segment saw a 
solid increase in the number of new contracts signed during the reporting 
period. Despite the prevailing uncertainties, BMW Group emerged with a 
positive outlook, showcasing its adaptability and strategic ability in a 
 demanding business environment.

BMW Group maintains a strong market position, confirmed by its sales 
growth in Europe and the Americas. Vehicles equipped with all-electric drive-
train systems stand out as the primary growth drivers. Simultaneously, the 
Vision Vehicles showcase how the company is positioning the NEUE 
KLASSE as the next innovative leap. Deliveries of BMW Group vehicles to-
taled 2,450,854 units in the reporting year, representing a slight decrease 
on the previous year (2023: 2,554,183 units; –4.0%) and in line with the 
Group’s expectations as adjusted in the third quarter of 2024. This decrease 
was largely due to delivery stops in the third quarter linked to the Integrated 
Brake System (IBS) provided by a supplier, as well as the challenging mar-
ket situation in China. The BMW brand delivered a total of 2,200,217 auto-
mobiles to customers in the reporting year (2023: 2,252,793 units; –2.3%). 
For MINI, 2024 was a year for renewing its entire product portfolio. In this 
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nature of the Chinese automobile market. The credit loss ratio for the entire 
financing portfolio was 0.26% in 2024 (2023: 0.18%). Business volume in 
balance sheet terms stood at €151,117 million and was therefore solidly 
 higher than one year earlier (2023: €137,910 million; +9.6%).

Group revenues in the financial year 2024 were moderately lower than in 
the previous year (2024: €142,380 million; 2023: €155,498 million; –8.4%, 
adjusted for currency effects: –7.8%). The main reasons for this were lower 
sales volumes and a decline in selling prices in the Automotive segment. 
The pricing measures brought forward from the previous year partially com-
pensated for the impact of increased competition on vehicle prices. The 
situation in China was particularly challenging during the financial year 2024. 
Although the market grew as a whole, the BMW Group’s sales volume de-
creased and fell short of expectations. One of the reasons for this was the 
continued slowdown in consumer spending on vehicles in higher price seg-
ments, which did not improve noticeably despite government support mea-
sures. Sales were also affected by vehicle delivery stops for vehicles linked 
to the supplied IBS. In the Financial Services segment, the upturn in reve-
nues from credit financing for dealerships and retail customers was largely 
driven by a rise in contract values and expanded dealership inventories. The 
amount of revenues eliminated on consolidation rose due to the upturn in 
new leasing business. This development had a considerable negative impact 
on Group revenues.

The financial result improved significantly to a net negative amount of 
€538 million (2023: net negative amount of €1,386 million). The negative 
financial result was attributable to fair value measurement losses on inter-
est rate hedging transactions, which, however, had less of a negative impact 
in the reporting period than in the previous year.

In highlighting BMW US Capital, it is important to highlight that the net result 
arises predominantly from the net interest margin between funding pro vided 
to affiliates and the cost of funds from the Company’s borrowings. Addition-
ally, gains or losses from financial instruments’ fair value also play a notable 
role. BMW US Capital, in October 2020 updated its business model and 
implemented a liquidity fee to be received from BMW AG. The Company 
reported an income before taxation of $14.9 million, marking a decline of 

context, deliveries fell to 244,925 automobiles (2023: 295,358 units; –17.1%). 
Rolls-Royce, the prestigious luxury brand, delivered 5,712 automobiles to 
customers, down on the previous year in line with expectations, owing to 
planned model changeovers and subdued demand in China (2023: 
6,032 units; –5.3%).

The BMW Group has at least one electrified model in each of its segments. 
Demand for all-electric automobiles across all three brands generated sig-
nificant growth in sales in 2024, with a total of 426,536 vehicles sold (2023: 
375,716 units; +13.5%). The number of electrified vehicles (BEV and PHEV) 
delivered to customers in the reporting year rose to a total of 593,150 units 
(2023: 565,875 units; +4.8%). The share of all-electric automobile deliver-
ies increased in 2024 to 17.4% (2023: 14.7%), while electrified vehicles 
 accounted for a total share of 24.2% (2023: 22.2%). The increasing electri-
fication of the product portfolio had a positive effect on the development of 
fleet carbon emissions.

The luxury brand Rolls-Royce delivered a total of 5,712 automobiles to clients 
in the reporting year (2023: 6,032 units; –5.3%). The moderate reduction 
was in line with the marque´s planning and was attributable to model 
changeovers ahead of the launch of the new models Cullinan Series II and 
Ghost Series II. Rolls-Royce was also somewhat affected by muted demand 
in the luxury segment of the Chinese market. The marque´s Bespoke pro-
gramme, centered on creating value for clients through highly individualized 
products, enjoyed great success. Bespoke content reached a new record 
level in 2024. In terms of the average value per motor car, Bespoke content 
value increased 10% year-on-year, reaching the highest level in the history 
of the marque.

Financial Services segment earnings were down when compared to the 
previous year. Profit before tax reported by the Financial Services segment 
for the financial year 2024 totaled €2,538 million (2023: €2,962 million; 
–14.3%) and was therefore significantly down on the previous year. The main 
reason for the decline in earnings was lower results achieved on the remar-
keting of lease returns. Earnings were also impacted in the fourth quarter 
2024 due to additions to provisions for legal risks in the UK and higher ex-
penses for credit risk provisioning, particularly as a result of the challenging 
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An uptick in economic output (+1.2%) is forecast for the UK due to a fall in 
interest rates and increased government spending. 

Bolstered by tax cuts for companies and households and by deregulation, 
the US economy is expected to grow by 2.2% in 2025. However, tariff in-
creases and lower immigration could slow the momentum. 

In China, the government is expected to bolster the domestic economy amid 
the ongoing real estate crisis and weak domestic demand by instituting more 
expansive monetary and fiscal policies. Given these conditions, economic 
growth in 2025 is expected to reach 4.5%. At the People’s Congress, the 
Chinese government announced a growth target of around 5% in conjunc-
tion with further state support measures. 

Forecasts for Japan’s economy have recently been revised slightly upwards 
due to a strong fourth quarter in the previous year. However, at +1.2%, over-
all growth in 2025 is still expected to surpass the previous year’s level.

In its outlook for the fiscal year 2025, the BMW Group has thus reflected the 
effects of all increased tariffs that came into effect up to March 12. Due to 
the volatile geopolitical situation, both reductions and further increases in 
tariffs may occur over the course of the year. The changes that have occurred 
since March 12 have not led to any adjustment of the BMW Group’s outlook 
at this stage.

Currency markets and international interest rate environment
Currencies of particular importance for the BMW Group’s international op-
erations are the Chinese renminbi, the British pound, the US dollar, the 
Japanese yen and the South Korean won. 

In the Eurozone, it is currently assumed that inflation rates will approach 
the 2% target again. This may lead to further moderate key interest rate cuts 
during the outlook period. However, higher tariffs in some countries could 
cause inflation to rise again. 

$15.7  million compared to the figure of $30.6 million recorded as of 
 December 31, 2023. This decrease primarily stems from diminished gains 
realized from fair value outcomes.

The Company applies IFRS 9 for the valuation of its financial instruments. 
IFRS 9 requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on the state-
ments of financial position at their respective fair values upon initial recog-
nition. Fair value changes are reflected in the statements of comprehensive 
income / (loss). Further details can be found in the appropriate footnotes 
throughout the report. 

The progress of the Company is monitored by financial and non-financial 
data on a regular basis with emphasis on key performance indicators, in-
cluding net interest margin, and loan outstanding at the reporting date. 
These key performance indicators are reviewed and adjusted regularly and 
in line with the requirements of the business.

Outlook
The outlook of the BMW Group presented in this report reflect the expected 
development in 2025 from the perspective of Group management. How ever, 
it is important to note that unforeseen events or circumstances could im-
pact the actual outcomes and cause them to deviate from the expected 
 development.

The International Monetary Fund currently expects the global economy to 
grow by 3.3% in 2025. The greatest risks include geopolitical developments, 
trade conflicts and a more gradual loosening of monetary policy.

In 2025, the eurozone could see somewhat stronger growth of 1.0% com-
pared to the previous year. The reasons for this are lower inflation, additional 
moderate cuts in key interest rates and a slight increase in private con sumer 
spending. However, higher tariffs in some countries could weaken growth. 
Germany’s economy is also expected to expand, albeit at a very low level 
(+0.3%). Some countries, such as France (+0.7%), Italy (+0.7%) and Spain 
(+2.4%), are expected to see slightly lower rates of GDP growth than in the 
previous year.

BMW US Capital, LLC Annual Report 2024

3 Management Report

8 Responsibility Statement

10 Independent Auditor’s Report

16 Statements of Financial Position

17 Statements of Comprehensive Income

18 Statements of Changes in Member’s Capital

19 Statements of Cash Flows

20 Notes to Financial Statements

5



Expected consequences for the BMW Group
Developments on international automobile markets have a direct impact on 
the BMW Group. A challenging competitive environment and macroeco-
nomic, trade and geopolitical developments could all have a significant 
impact on business performance. The close cooperation between our sales 
network and our production network and a flexible vehicle architecture allow 
the BMW Group to respond even to unforeseeable developments.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company actively participates in the internal control system in place 
throughout the BMW Group aimed at ensuring the effectiveness of operations. 
It adheres to the principal features of the internal control system, in relation 
to the Company and its financial reporting processes. A detailed description 
and explanation of the internal control system is available within the BMW 
Group Annual Report for the year 2024.

Management assesses the design and effectiveness of the internal control 
over financial reporting on the basis of internal review procedures performed 
at regular intervals. Effective measures are implemented whenever weak-
nesses are identified and reported. Based on these assessments, manage-
ment believes that the Company maintained effective internal controls over 
financial reporting during the period ended December 31, 2024.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the execution of the Company’s strategy 
are subject to a number of risks. Detailed descriptions of the main risks facing 
the Company and the instruments used to manage these risks are presented 
in the notes to the financial statements.

Research and development
The Company does not carry out any research and development.

Creditor payment policy
The Company’s policy concerning the payment of its trade creditors is to 
pay in accordance with contractual and other legal obligations.

Inflation in the USA is expected to remain above the target of 2.0% due to 
higher tariffs and a tight labor market resulting from stricter immigration 
policies. The US Federal Reserve could therefore lower key interest rates 
more slowly, which would likely lead to an appreciation of the dollar against 
the euro. 

In the UK, too, key interest rates are likely to continue to fall in 2025, and 
the pound / euro exchange rate is expected to remain stable. 

In Japan, interest rates are expected to rise slightly in 2025. The yen is 
likely to remain weak but stable against the euro. 

Low inflation in China could lead to a more expansionary monetary policy 
on the part of the Chinese central bank, nevertheless, the renminbi is ex-
pected to appreciate slightly against the euro. 

The South Korean won is expected to recover somewhat from its lower  level 
and regain value in 2025.

General developments on international automobile markets 
Global automobile markets could see slight growth in 2025 against the back-
drop of favorable economic forecasts. Positive momentum is expected to 
come mainly from the USA and China, In China, growth in the lower price 
ranges is expected, as it was in 2024. In Europe, the market for electrified 
vehicles is expected to grow due to stricter CO2 regulations. However, the 
BMW Group expects the overall market to decline.

International motorcycle markets
In 2025, the BMW Group expects the world’s motorcycle markets in the 
500 cc plus class to remain stable overall. Europe is likely to see slight 
growth, while the USA is expected to stabilize. In China, the development 
of the motorcycle market in the 500 cc plus class is forecast to remain in 
line with last year’s level. The motorcycle market in Brazil is expected to 
remain stable in 2025, as in the previous year.
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Members and members’ interests
The members who held office during the year or subsequently were as follows:

BMW (US) Holding Corporation, as the sole member.

Employees
During the periods ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company em-
ployed 16 persons, all of which are included within these accounts. 

Political and charitable contributions
The company made no political or charitable contributions during the  period 
ended December 31, 2024.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Management who held office at the date of approval of this management 
report confirms that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; 
and management has taken all the steps that ought to have taken to make 
itself aware of any relevant audit information and has made such information 
available to the Company’s auditors.

Auditors
The independent auditor (“certified public accountants”) of BMW US Capital 
is PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
 Frankfurt, Germany.

BMW US Capital, LLC

April 25, 2025
Helena von Gladiss
President
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Statement of Management responsibilities in respect of financial 
statements and the Management Report
Management is responsible for preparing the financial statements and the 
Management Report in accordance with applicable laws and regulations of 
Luxembourg, which BMW US Capital, LLC has chosen as its Home Member 
State under the regulations of the EU Transparency Directive.

Luxembourg Law, pursuant to the EU Transparency Directive, requires Man-
agement to prepare audited financial statements for each financial year. 
Management has elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standard Board. Management makes every effort 
to ensure the financial statements present fairly the financial position of the 
Company and the performance for that period.

Management is also responsible for preparing the Management Report that 
complies with the law.

The financial information contained in the Management Report concerning 
the operations, economic performance and financial condition of the Com-
pany is subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and contingen-
cies, many of which are beyond the control of the Management of the Com-
pany, which may cause actual results, performance or achievements to 
differ materially from anticipated results, performance or achievements. 

Also, the financial information is based upon Management’s estimates of 
fair values and future costs, using currently available information. Factors 
that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to:

 — risks of economic slowdown, downturn or recession, 

 — risks inherent in changes in market interest rates and spreads,

 — lending conditions to companies turning to the worse, thereby  increasing 
the cost of borrowing,

 — changes in funding markets, including commercial paper and term debt,

 — uncertainties associated with risk management, including credit, pre-
payment, asset / liability, interest rate and currency risks,

 — changes in laws or regulations governing BMW US Capital, LLC’s busi-
ness and operations, and

 — changes in competitive factors.

Management has a general responsibility to design and implement controls 
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y  S TAT E M E N T
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Responsibility Statement by the Company’s legal representatives
To the best of Management’s knowledge, and in accordance with the ap-
plicable reporting principles, International Financial Reporting Standards 
as issued by the International Accounting Standard Board, the financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial posi-
tion and profit or loss of BMW US Capital, LLC, and the Management Report 
includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business 
and the position of BMW US Capital, LLC, together with a description of the 
principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected development 
of BMW US Capital, LLC.

BMW US Capital, LLC

April 25, 2025
Helena von Gladiss
President
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To Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft, München

R E P O R T  O N  T H E  A U D I T  O F  
T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of BMW US Capital, LLC, Woodcliff 
Lake, New Jersey, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2024, and the statement of comprehensive income / (loss), 
statement of changes in member’s capital and statement of cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including ma-
terial accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair 
view of the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2024, and 
of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
 Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further de-
scribed in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial state-
ments” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in Germany, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 

audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were 
of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current 
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
 financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In our view, the matter of most significance in our audit was as follows:

1  Accounting treatment of hedging relationships

Our presentation of this key audit matter has been structured as follows:

1  Matter and issue 

2  Audit approach and findings

3  Reference to further information

Hereinafter we present the key audit matter:

1  Accounting treatment of hedging relationships

1   The company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge in parti cular 
interest rate risks in combination with foreign exchange rate risks arising 
from its ordinary business activities. The management’s hedging policy 
is documented in internal guidelines and serves as the basis for these 

I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R ’ S  R E P O R T
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  As of the balance sheet date, a cumulative amount of $625 million (be-
fore deferred taxes) was recognized as hedge fair value adjustment of 
designated hedged items. In the cost of hedging reserve, a cumulative 
amount of $17 million was recognized (including deferred taxes).

  From our point of view these matters were of particular significance for 
our audit due to the high nominal amounts of hedged items as well as 
the extensive accounting and disclosure requirements of IFRS 9 and 
IFRS 7.

2   As part of our audit and with the assistance of our internal specialists, 
we assessed, among other things, the contractual and financial param-
eters and evaluated the accounting treatment, including the effects on 
profit or loss and equity, of the various hedge relationships.

  Together with our specialists, we also evaluated the company’s internal 
control system regarding derivative financial instruments, including the 
internal activities to record and maintain data in the treasury manage-
ment system. In addition to evaluating the internal control system, we 
obtained bank confirmations for the hedging instruments in order to 
assess completeness. With regards to the assessment of the ineffec-
tiveness of designated hedge relationships, we obtained and evaluated 
the quantitative assessment conducted by management. In doing so, 
we were able to satisfy ourselves that the requirements for applying fair 
value hedge accounting according to IFRS 9 were substantiated and 
sufficiently documented.

3   The company’s disclosures on hedge accounting are contained in sec-
tions entitled “Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies 
and Practices” and “Risk Management” in the notes to the financial 
statements.

transactions. The company enters into interest rate derivatives for the 
purpose of achieving a desired ratio of fixed to variable interest rate 
exposures. Interest rate risk is mitigated by concluding interest rate 
swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps. In addition, FX forwards 
are used for the hedging of pure foreign currency risk.

  Derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recog-
nized in profit or loss. The sum of all derivatives with positive fair values 
amounts to $213 million as of the reporting date, while the sum of all 
derivatives with negative fair values amounts to $1,165 million. Hedges 
of the exposure to changes in fair value of recognized assets and liabil-
ities that are attributable to interest rate risk are designated as fair  value 
hedge relationships, if hedge accounting requirements pursuant to 
IFRS  9 are met. When applying fair value hedge accounting the 
cross-currency basis spread is not designated as part of the hedge re-
lationship. At the reporting date, the company held derivatives desig-
nated as hedging instruments with positive fair values amounting to 
$42 million and negative fair values amounting to $1,006 million. 

  The effective portion of the cumulative gain or loss from measuring the 
derivative hedging instruments at fair value is recognized in financial 
result (profit or loss). The cumulative gain or loss of the hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk is recognized as hedged fair value in 
 financial result. Changes in the fair value of the hedging instruments 
caused by changes in the cross-currency basis spread are not desig-
nated in the hedge relationship, instead these fair value changes are 
recognized in other comprehensive income and are accumulated in the 
“cost of hedging reserve”. The accumulated changes due to the 
cross-currency basis spread are reclassified from other comprehensive 
income to profit or loss in the periods during which the hedged cash 
flows of the hedged items affect profit or loss. Insofar the reclassification 
of accumulated changes due to cross-currency basis spreads takes place 
over the duration of the hedging relationship.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finan-
cial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opin-
ion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guar-
antee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judg-
ment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 — Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.

 — Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal control.

 — Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the rea-
sonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management.

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the annual report but does not include the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a ma-
terial misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as 
issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for as-
sessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Com-
pany or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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R E P O R T  O N  O T H E R  
L E G A L  A N D  R E G U L AT O R Y 
 R E Q U I R E M E N T S
Report on the Assurance on the Electronic Rendering of the 
Financial Statements Prepared for Publication Purposes

Assurance Opinion
We have performed assurance work to obtain reasonable assurance as to 
whether the rendering of the financial statements (hereinafter the “ESEF 
documents”) contained in the electronic file BMW_US_Capital_Annual_ 
Report_ESEF-2024-12-31.zip and prepared for publication purposes com-
plies in all material respects with the requirements of the Delegated Regu-
lation (EU) 2019 / 815 (“ESEF format”). This assurance work extends only 
to the conversion of the information contained in the financial statements 
into the ESEF format and therefore relates neither to the information con-
tained within these renderings nor to any other information contained in the 
electronic file identified above.

In our opinion, the rendering of the financial statements contained in the 
electronic file identified above and prepared for publication purposes com-
plies in all material respects with the requirements of the Delegated Regu-
lation (EU) 2019 / 815 for the electronic reporting format. Beyond this assur-
ance opinion and our audit opinion on the accompanying financial 
statements for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2024 con-
tained in the “Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements” above, we 
do not express any assurance opinion on the information contained within 
these renderings or on the other information contained in the electronic file 
identified above.

 — Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related dis-
closures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inade-
quate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,  future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

 — Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial state-
ments represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
actions taken to eliminate threats of safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or reg-
ulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in  extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communi cated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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 — Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the assurance 
work on the ESEF documents in order to design assurance procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an assurance opinion on the effectiveness of these controls.

 — Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e., whether the 
electronic file containing the ESEF documents meets the requirements 
of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019 / 815 in the version in force at the 
date of the financial statements on the technical specification for this 
electronic file.

 — Evaluate whether the ESEF documents provide an XHTML rendering 
with content equivalent to the audited financial statements.

R E F E R E N C E  T O  A N  O T H E R 
M AT T E R  –  U S E  O F  T H E 
 A U D I T O R ’ S  R E P O R T
Our auditor’s report must always be read together with the audited financial 
statements as well as the assured ESEF documents. The financial state-
ments converted to the ESEF format – including the versions to be published 
to the operator of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange – are merely electronic 
renderings of the audited financial statements and do not take their place. 
In particular, the “Report on the Assurance on the Electronic Rendering of 
the Financial Statements Prepared for Publication Purposes” and our as-
surance opinion contained therein are to be used solely together with the 
assured ESEF documents made available in electronic form.

Basis for the Assurance Opinion
We conducted our assurance work on the rendering of the financial state-
ments contained in the electronic file identified above in accordance with the 
International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised). Our 
responsibility in accordance therewith is further described in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Assurance Work on the ESEF Documents” section. 
Our audit firm applies the International Standard on Quality Management 1.

Responsibilities of the Management for the ESEF Documents
The management of the Company is responsible for the preparation of the 
ESEF documents including the electronic renderings of the financial state-
ments in accordance with the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019 / 815. 

In addition, the management of the Company is responsible for such inter-
nal control as management has considered necessary to enable the prepa-
ration of ESEF documents that are free from material non-compliance with 
the requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019 / 815 for the elec-
tronic reporting format, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Assurance Work on the ESEF Documents
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF 
documents are free from material non-compliance with the requirements of 
the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019 / 815, whether due to fraud or error. We 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the assurance work. We also:

 — Identify and assess the risks of material non-compliance with the re-
quirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019 / 815, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform assurance procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain assurance evidence that is sufficient and appro-
priate to provide a basis for our assurance opinion.
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G E R M A N  P U B L I C  A U D I T O R  
R E S P O N S I B L E  F O R  T H E 
 E N G A G E M E N T
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s 
report is Michael Popp.

Munich, April 25, 2025

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Ralf Räpple  Michael Popp
Wirtschaftsprüfer  Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)
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in thousands of dollars Notes 2024 2023

Receivables from  
BMW Group companies 3a 11,924,567 9,741,542

Derivative assets 3f 162,352 167,707

Deferred tax assets  26,047 12,178

Total non-current assets  12,112,966 9,921,427

Cash and cash equivalents  1,271,753 538,232

Receivables from  
BMW Group companies 3a 22,401,317 21,244,302

Derivative assets 3f 51,002 127,696

Total current assets  23,724,072 21,910,230

Total assets  35,837,038 31,831,657

in thousands of dollars Notes 2024 2023

Member's capital  11,000 11,000

Capital reserves  144,000 144,000

Accumulated other  
comprehensive loss  (21,611) (4,886)

Retained earnings  103,289 92,762

Total member's capital  236,678 242,876

Pension obligation 3c 117 74

Term debt 3e 17,907,995 13,021,062

Liabilities due to  
BMW Group companies 3a 425,000 537,308

Derivative liabilities 3f 1,056,128 953,410

Total non-current liabilities  19,389,240 14,511,854

Term debt 3e 4,424,509 4,283,841

Commercial paper 3d 1,914,801 2,205,545

Liabilities due to  
BMW Group companies 3a 9,761,733 10,516,373

Derivative liabilities 3f 109,285 70,291

Other liabilities 3b 792 877

Total current liabilities  16,211,120 17,076,927

Total liabilities  35,600,360 31,588,781

Total member's capital  
and liabilities  35,837,038 31,831,657

See accompanying notes to financial statements

S TAT E M E N T S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4  A N D  2 0 2 3
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in thousands of dollars Notes 2024 2023

BMW Group companies  1,972,897 1,267,654

Third parties  1,804,601 1,478,125

Interest income 4a 3,777,498 2,745,779

BMW Group companies  (866,824) (647,503)

Third parties  (2,958,447) (2,124,628)

Interest expense 4a (3,825,271) (2,772,131)

Net Interest margin  (47,773) (26,352)

Gains from financial transactions  851,337 833,607

Losses from financial transactions  (783,320) (771,039)

Financial result 4b 68,017 62,568

General and administrative expenses  (5,312) (5,572)

Net income before taxation  14,932 30,644

Income taxes 4c (4,405) (7,019)

Net income after taxation  10,527 23,625

in thousands of dollars Notes 2024 2023

Remeasurement of the net defined 
benefit liability for pension and 
post-retirement plans  (25) 12

Deferred taxes  (2) 5

Items not to be expected to be 
reclassified to net income  (27) 17

Costs of hedging  (22,034) (912)

Deferred taxes  5,336 230

Items than can be reclassified to  
the income statement in the future  (16,698) (682)

Other comprehensive income,  
(loss) net of tax  (16,725) (665)

Total comprehensive income, (loss)  (6,198) 22,960

See accompanying notes to financial statements

S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4  A N D  2 0 2 3
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Accumulated other 
comprehensive (loss) /   

income

in thousands of dollars
Member’s  

capital
Capital  

reserves Pension
Cost of  

hedging
Retained  
earnings

Total  
member’s capital

Balance at December 31, 2023 11,000 144,000 (2,220) (2,666) 92,762 242,876

Other comprehensive income for the period   (27) (16,698)  (16,725)

Net income     10,527 10,527

Balance at December 31, 2024 11,000 144,000 (2,247) (19,364) 103,289 236,678

Balance at December 31, 2022 11,000 144,000 (2,237) (1,984) 69,137 219,916

Other comprehensive income for the period   17 (682) – (665)

Net income     23,625 23,625

Balance at December 31, 2023 11,000 144,000 (2,220) (2,666) 92,762 242,876

See accompanying notes to financial statements

S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  M E M B E R ’ S  C A P I TA L
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4  A N D  2 0 2 3
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in thousands of dollars 2024 2023

Net income 10,526 23,625

Change in pension obligation (27) 17

Foreign exchange losses / (gains) 23,855 3,660

Fair value change due to hedge accounting (24,961) 406,398

Fair value measurement losses / (gains) – 
 derivatives 485,074 15,889

Interest expense – term debt 832,836 590,845

Change in deferred tax assets / (liabilities) (13,869) (5,559)

Interest income (118,500) (106,720)

Interest expense 479,549 (18,103)

Total adjustments for non-cash items 1,663,957 886,427

Change in receivables from /   
(liabilities) to BMW Group companies (5,433,495) (1,782,701)

Change in pension obligation 43 7

Change in other (liabilities) (87) (711)

Interest received on free-standing derivatives 796,450 906,750

Interest paid on free-standing derivatives (431,185) (310,885)

Interest received (479,549) 796,306

Interest paid 1,321,152 (487,640)

Total adjustments for cash items (4,226,671) (878,874)

Cash flow from operating activities (2,552,188) 31,178

in thousands of dollars 2024 2023

Proceeds from term debt issuances 9,098,240 3,118,625

Repayment of term debt issuances (4,148,980) (3,242,408)

Proceeds from commercial paper issuances 25,178,172 27,608,687

Repayment of commercial paper issuances (25,467,915) (25,981,596)

Interest paid – term debt (730,532) (556,645)

Interest paid on  
fair value hedge derivatives (643,276) (520,456)

Cash flow from financing equivalents 3,285,709 426,207

Change in cash and cash equivalents 733,521 457,385

Cash and cash equivalents  
at beginning of year 538,232 80,847

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 1,271,753 538,232

See accompanying notes to financial statements

S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4  A N D  2 0 2 3
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1 Nature of Operations
BMW US Capital, LLC (the Company) was formed on January 14, 1993, and 
until December 31, 2000, was a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW (US) 
 Holding Corp., which is ultimately owned by BMW AG (Bayerische Motoren 
Werke Aktiengesellschaft).

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted a legal structure permitted 
under the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act dated August 1, 1999, 
and became a limited liability company whose sole member is BMW (US) 
Holding Corp., which is ultimately owned by BMW AG. The conversion of the 
Company to a Limited Liability Company (LLC) did not have any effect on 
the liabilities or obligations of the organization and did not constitute dis-
solution of the converting entity. As a result of the conversion, the stock-
holder’s equity of BMW US Capital Corp. was contributed to the Company 
and is now accounted for as member’s capital.

The Company’s purpose is to assist, via long and short term advances, the 
financing of the activities and managing interest and foreign exchange risks 
for BMW AG or the Parent and its affiliates (BMW Group), primarily in the 
United States, and to provide services in connection therewith.

The Company’s U.S. affiliates operate primarily in the automotive industry 
and generate revenues across North America, with a concentration in states 
with large populations such as California, Texas, Florida, New York, and 
New Jersey.

The Company’s business as a service provider is connected to the automotive 
and financial activities of BMW Group with respect to yearly fluctuations due 
to overall economic changes and their impact over BMW Group’s businesses.

The Company’s revenues and expenses arise primarily from interests on 
deposits and borrowings and fair value gains and losses on financial instru-
ments, which include derivatives executed for hedging purposes. 

The debts, obligations, and liabilities of the Company, whether arising in 
contract, tort, or otherwise, shall be solely the debts, obligations, and liabil-
ities of the Company, and no member, manager, and / or officer of the Com-
pany shall be obligated personally for any such debt, obligation, or liability 
of the Company solely by reason of being a member, manager and / or officer.

2  Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies and 
Practices

(a) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB).

All Interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee which are 
mandatory at December 31, 2024 have been applied.

Other financial reporting standards issued by the IASB and not yet applied 
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Company Financial 
Statements.

The financial statements were authorized for issuance by management of 
the Company on April 25, 2025.

N O T E S  T O  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4  A N D  2 0 2 3

BMW US Capital, LLC Annual Report 2024

3 Management Report

8 Responsibility Statement

10 Independent Auditor’s Report

16 Statements of Financial Position

17 Statements of Comprehensive Income

18 Statements of Changes in Member’s Capital

19 Statements of Cash Flows

20 Notes to Financial Statements

20



 — changes in funding markets, including commercial paper and term debt

 — uncertainties associated with risk management, including credit, pre-
payment, asset / liability, interest rate and currency risks

 — changes in laws or regulations governing our business and operations

 — changes in competitive factors

For the valuation of financial instruments, the most significant assumptions 
and estimates relate to the interest rates and expected cash flows used in 
the valuation models.

(d) Functional and Presentation Currency
These financial statements are presented in United States dollars (USD), 
which is the functional currency of the Company. All amounts have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

(e) Foreign Currency Transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional  currency 
using spot exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
translated to the functional currency using the spot exchange rate at that 
date. The economic effect of foreign currency transactions is recognized in 
the statements of comprehensive income / (loss).

(f) Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one 
company and a financial liability or an equity instrument of another. Finan-
cial instruments are recognized when the Company becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases or sales of 
financial assets are recognized at the settlement date.

Derivative financial instruments of the Company are subject to legally en-
forceable master netting agreements or similar contracts. However, receiv-
ables and payables relating to derivative financial instruments are not  netted 
due to non-fulfilment of the stipulated criteria. Offsetting would have the 

(b) Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost / ac crual 
basis except for the following material items in the financial statements of 
position:

 — Derivative financial instrument, and

 — Recognized financial assets and liabilities that are part of fair value 
hedge relationships are measured at fair value in respect of the risk 
 being hedged in accordance with IFRS 9.

(c) Use of Estimates in Financial Statement Preparation
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IAS 1, Presen-
tation of Financial Statements, requires management to estimate the effects 
of uncertain future events on assets and liabilities at the statement of finan-
cial position date in order to determine the carrying amounts of those assets 
and liabilities.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the 
estimates are revised and in future periods affected. Due to the current 
 financial market conditions, the estimates contained in these financial state-
ments concerning the operations, economic performance, and financial 
condition of the Company are subject to known and unknown risks, un-
certainties and contingencies many of which are beyond the control of 
 Company management, which may cause actual results, performance or 
achievements to differ materially from anticipated results, performance, or 
achievements. Also, the estimates are based upon management’s estimates 
of fair values, using currently available information. Factors that could cause 
differences include, but are not limited to the following:

 — risks of economic slowdown, downturn or recession

 — risks inherent in changes in market interest rates and credit especially in 
an environment of unpredictable financial market conditions

 — lending conditions to companies turning to the worse, thereby increas-
ing the cost of borrowing
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with recycling” (in regard to debt instruments under IAS 32) and “fair value 
through other comprehensive income without recycling” (regarding equity 
instruments under IAS 32) are not applicable for the Company.

The Company’s non-derivative financial assets include receivables from 
BMW Group companies as well as cash and cash equivalents and are clas-
sified as financial assets measured at amortized cost.

All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less 
are considered as cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents 
consist primarily of short term deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less from inception. For cash and cash equivalents, the carrying 
amount approximates the respective fair value due to its short maturity.

Non-derivative financial liabilities are classified into the following measure-
ment categories:

 — financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL); or

 — financial liabilities measured at amortized cost (AC).

Non-derivative financial liabilities mainly include term debt, commercial 
paper and liabilities due to BMW Group companies and are classified as AC. 
The company does not apply the fair value option for financial assets or 
 financial liabilities.

Financial instruments belonging to the measurement category FVPL are 
recognized at their fair value. Resulting transaction costs are immediately 
recorded in profit or loss. 

impact on the carrying amounts of derivatives shown in the additional dis-
closures to financial instruments.

Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities are only offset if a legally en-
forceable right currently exists and it is actually intended to offset the rele-
vant amounts. No financial assets and liabilities have been netted in the 
Company due to the fact that the necessary requirements for netting have 
not been met.

Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
Regular way purchases or sales of non-derivative financial instruments are 
recognized at the settlement date.

Financial assets that represent debt instruments according to IAS 32 are 
classified either as 

 — financial assets measured at amortized cost (AC); or 

 — financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

The measurement category AC is applicable to financial assets (debt instru-
ments) that meet the following requirements:

 — the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to 
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

 — the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows on 
specified dates that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets (debt instruments) not meeting the conditions mentioned 
above are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss. The 
measurement categories “fair value through other comprehensive income 
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Receivables are credit-impaired when one or more events have occurred 
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flow (stage 3). 
Such events comprise situations of delayed payment over a certain period, 
the institution of enforcement measures, the threat of insolvency or over- 
indebtedness, the application bankruptcy proceedings, or the failure of re-
organization measures.

A default of a financial asset is assumed, if bankruptcy proceedings have 
been opened or if there is a high probability that no reasonable expectation 
of repayment exists. In case of default, the financial assets are derecog-
nized. When derecognizing financial assets, the Company continues to 
under take enforcement measures to attempt to collect the receivables due.

The simplified approach is not applicable at the Company.

Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative financial instruments are used for hedging purposes in order to 
reduce the currency and interest rate risks from operating activities and 
related financing requirements as well as to support the overall value at risk 
approach applied by BMW AG. 

All derivative financial instruments (such as interest, currency, and combined 
interest / currency swaps as well as forward currency contracts and options) 
are measured initially and subsequently at their fair value in the statement 
of comprehensive income in the financial result (FVPL). They are generally 
recognized at the trade date.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments are measured using mar-
ket information prevailing at the end of the reporting period and recognized 
valuation techniques. They correspond to the prices that would be received 
for the sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of a liability between market 
participants in an arm’s length transactions. 

Additional information is discussed in ↗ note 5.

Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost 
are initially recognized at fair value under consideration of directly attribut-
able transactions costs. On initial measurement, fair value generally corre-
sponds to the transaction price, i.e. the consideration given or received. 
Subsequently, non-derivative financial assets and liabilities are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive contractual 
cashflows have expired or been transferred and the Company has trans-
ferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities 
are derecognized when the contractual obligations have expired or other-
wise terminated.

According to IFRS 9, the Company recognizes expected credit losses (ECL), 
for receivables from BMW Group companies as well as cash and cash equiv-
alents measured at amortized cost. The receivables are aggregated to de-
termine expected credit losses based on similar risk characteristics.

The general approach according to IFRS 9 outlines a three-stage model to 
determine the amount of ECL. At initial recognition loss allowances are 
recognized at an amount equal to 12-month ECL (stage 1). In case of signif-
icant increases in the credit risk since initial recognition, loss allowances are 
determined as lifetime ECL (stage 2). 

The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognized is based on 
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since 
initial recognition. If the internal risk management and control systems do 
not indicate a significant increase in credit risk any earlier, the rebuttable 
presumption is that a significant increase in credit risk has occurred when 
payments are more than 30 days overdue. The Company considers the 
probability of defaults and continually monitors the development of the  credit 
risk in each reporting period, considering all reasonable and supportable 
information and forecasts. This includes especially historical credit loss ex-
perience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general eco-
nomic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. 
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Where hedge accounting is applied, changes in fair value are presented as 
part of other financial result in the income statement or within other com-
prehensive income as a component of accumulated other equity (Cost of 
Hedging).

Additional information regarding the Company’s objectives and strategies 
regarding the management of foreign currency and interest rate risk, includ-
ing the use of derivative instruments, is discussed in notes ↗ 3(f) and ↗ 7(c).

(g) Recognition of Interest Income and Expenses
Interest income or expense is recognized using the effective interest  method. 
In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is 
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not 
credit-impaired) or to the amortized cost of the financial liability. However, 
for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest 
rate to the amortized cost of the credit impaired financial asset. If the asset 
is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts 
to the gross basis.

(h) Income Taxes
BMW US Capital, LLC is a member of the US Tax Group und BMW (US) 
Holding Corp. for federal as well as state tax purposes and therefore does 
not have a separate tax obligation. BMW (US) Holding Corp. has an internal 
tax sharing arrangement whereby the Company settles its separate com-
pany tax receivables or liabilities annually with BMW (US) Holding Corp. As 
a single member limited liability company, the Company is treated as a di-
vision of BMW (US) Holding Corp., which files a consolidated federal, state, 
and local income tax return.

Income taxes are determined on a separate company basis and allocated 
to each company based upon the BMW (US) Holding Corp.’s internal tax 
sharing arrangement. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined 
based on the differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabil-
ities for financial reporting purposes and tax basis of assets and liabilities 
using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are 
expected to reverse.

Application of Hedge Accounting
Hedge accounting is applied if all requirements according to IFRS 9 are met. 
On the date the derivative contract is entered, the Company designates the 
derivative as a hedging instrument. The hedging instrument used, and the 
hedged items are affected by the same risk. In each hedging relationship 
for which hedge accounting is used, the designated amount of the hedged 
item corresponds to the volume of the hedging instrument. The resulting 
economic relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged item is 
not dominated by the effect of the credit risk. The Company formally docu-
ments details of the respective economic relationships between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, including its risk management objective and 
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions, together with the  method 
that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. 

The Company especially enters into interest rate derivative agreements as 
part of its overall interest rate risk management program and applies fair 
value hedge accounting. These transactions are entered as hedges against 
the effects of future interest rate fluctuations on term debt issued by the 
Company or financial receivables and liabilities due to BMW Group compa-
nies. The cumulative gain or loss from measuring the derivative hedging 
instrument at fair value is recognized in profit or loss. The cumulative gain 
or loss of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognized as 
basis adjustment in the profit or loss immediately. Accordingly, the change 
in fair values attributable to the hedged risk of both, the derivative and the 
underlying hedged item, are offset in the financial result, so long as a  highly 
effective relationship is maintained between the derivative instruments and 
the corresponding position being hedged. The Company has exercised the 
option of designating cross-currency basis spreads as cost of hedging  rather 
than as part of the hedging relationship and presenting them separately in 
equity (Cost of Hedging).

The Company discontinues hedge accounting when it is determined that 
the hedge relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria, including in-
stances when the derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, the 
forecasted transaction is no longer highly probable, or management  changes 
its risk management objective.
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into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during 
the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest 
expense and other expenses related to the defined benefit plans are recog-
nized in profit or loss. 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or a plan is curtailed, the resulting 
change in benefit that relates to the past service or the gain or loss on cur-
tailments is recognized in profit or loss. The Company recognizes the gains 
and losses on the settlement of the defined benefit plan when the settlement 
occurs. 

3 Notes on the Items of the Balance Sheet
(a)  Receivables from BMW Group companies, Liabilities to BMW Group  

companies

The Company makes and accepts loans to / from various BMW Group com-
panies in the course of normal business operations. Receivables from BMW 
Group companies due within 12 months and the related accrued interest 
receivable from BMW Group companies are short term in nature. The fair 
value of long-term amounts receivable from BMW Group companies is the 
estimated discounted future cash flows based on rates currently available 
for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities. The Company serves 
as the In-house bank service provider for the Americas region and is the 
cash pool leader for USD, CAD and MXN currencies. The Company receives 
deposits from and / or lends funds to participating entities of the BMW Group. 
Balances from participating entities are not subject to offsetting.

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company has adjusted the carrying value of 
receivables subject to fair value hedges by the change in fair value to the 
risk being hedged as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. At 
December 31, 2024, the resulting adjustment decreased the related value 
of the underlying receivable by $8,282k. At December 31, 2023, the result-
ing adjustment decreased the related value of the underlying receivable by 
$132,263k. Concurrently with this adjustment, the derivative instruments 
classified as fair value hedges were carried at fair value with changes in fair 
value recorded in profit of loss.

As a subsidiary of BMW AG, BMW US Capital LLC, a legal entity in the U.S., 
falls within the scope of the Minimum Tax Act to ensure a minimum global 
tax of 15%. According to this, BMW AG must pay additional tax to the extent 
that the specific tax rate under the Minimum Tax Act falls below the minimum 
rate of 15% per jurisdiction if no recognized additional tax is levied in the 
respective jurisdiction. Currently, there is no similar tax regime in the U.S. 
The Minimum Tax Act applies to financial years beginning after December 31, 
2024. BMW AG is currently in the process of assessing the effects from 
fiscal year 2024. For this purpose, BMW AG will analyze the jurisdictions 
that could be affected by an additional tax based on a preliminary minimum 
tax calculation, considering the statutory temporary simplification regula-
tions (Transitional Safe Harbour). In principle, BMW US Capital LLC will not 
be subject to any additional tax burden from the national supplementary tax 
in the future, as BMW AG owes the additional tax in accordance with the 
Minimum Tax Act.

(i) Provisions for Pension and Similar Obligations
The Company’s net obligation for defined benefit plans is calculated sepa-
rately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employ-
ees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount 
and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The calculation of defined 
benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method in accordance with IAS 19, Employee Benefits. 
When the calculation results in the potential asset for the company, the 
recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic benefit available 
in the form of any future refund from the plan or reduction in the future 
contribution to the plan. To calculate the present value of economic benefits, 
consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements. 

Remeasurement of the net pension liability, which comprises actuarial gains 
and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest), are recognized 
immediately in OCI. The company determines the net interest expense (in-
come) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying 
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the 
beginning annual period to the net defined benefit liability (asset), taking 
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Liabilities due to BMW Group Companies at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
along with the range of annual interest rates on such loans, are as follows:

Long-term Short-term

in thousands of dollars 2024 2023 2024 2023

 425,000 537,308 9,761,733 10,516,373

 
3.67%–

4.67%
0.78%–

4.79%
3.89%–

5.29%
0.16%–

4.71%

Maturities of liabilities due to BMW Group companies are as follows at 
 December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

2024 2023

in thousands of dollars
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Maturity:     

Due within one year 9,761,733 9,780,391 10,516,373 10,521,335

Due between one  
and five years 425,000 429,970 537,308 542,429

Total 10,186,733 10,210,361 11,053,681 11,063,764

Receivables from BMW Group companies at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
along with the range of interest rates charged on such loans are as follows:

Long-term Short-term

in thousands of dollars 2024 2023 2024 2023

 11,924,567 9,741,542 22,401,317 21,244,302

 
4.16%–

5.75%
0.90%–

5.86%
2.36%–

5.69%
0.70%–

5.38%

Maturities of receivables from BMW Group companies are as follows at 
 December 31, 2024 and 2023:

2024 2023

in thousands of dollars
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Maturity:     

Due within one year 22,401,317 20,006,748 21,244,302 21,266,637

Due between one  
and five years 11,924,567 11,256,285 9,741,542 10,025,871

Total 34,325,884 31,263,033 30,985,844 31,292,508
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(d) Commercial Paper
The Company maintains a BMW AG guaranteed U.S. commercial paper 
program of $7 billion. The following details apply to commercial paper at 
December 31, 2024:

2024 
in thousands of dollars Outstanding

Weighted average 
maturity period  

(in days)

Weighted average 
nominal interest 

rate (in %)

 1,914,801 27 4.44

Commercial paper is an unsecured and discounted promissory note issued 
to finance the short term credit needs of institutions. Although commercial 
paper is occasionally issued as an interest bearing note, it typically trades 
at a discount to its par value. In other words, the purchaser usually  purchases 
commercial paper below par and then receives its face value at maturity. 
The discount, or the difference between the purchase price and the face 
value of the note, is amortized over the term of the commercial paper as 
interest expense by applying the effective interest rate method. At Decem-
ber 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the commercial paper unamortized 
discount was $6,449k and $4,455k, respectively.

At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the fair value of the  Company’s 
commercial paper obligations approximated the recorded value  primarily due 
to the short-term nature of the outstanding commercial paper.

(b) Other Liabilities
Other liabilities include mainly trade payables and period end accruals.

(c) Pension and Similar Obligations
The Company participates in the Pension, Post-Retirement Medical, and 
Life Insurance Plans of BMW (US) Holding Corp. and its affiliates. The 
Post-Retirement Medical and Life Insurance Plans are group plans for retired 
employees with the appropriate age and years of service. Components of 
the plan include an annual deductible, employee coinsurance, out of  pocket 
limit, no lifetime maximum benefit, and prescription drug coverage. The 
Pension Plan and Post-Retirement Medical Plan are defined benefit plans.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit 
method. The actuarial computation requires the use of estimates and as-
sumption, including discount rate and mortality. Actuarial gains and losses 
arising from defined benefit plans are recorded directly in other comprehen-
sive income. Interest expense on the net defined benefit liability is pre sented 
within net interest margin on the Statements of Comprehensive Income /  
(loss). All other components of pension expense are presented in the com-
prehensive income / (loss) statements under general and administrative 
expenses.

The Plan was closed to new participants on March 1, 2012. Employees hired 
after March 1, 2012, are not eligible for the Plan. Eligibility for unreduced 
retirement benefits begins at age 60, provided that the participant has at 
least five-years of service. Reduced retirement benefits can commence  prior 
to age 60 with a least 5 years of service. An early retirement subsidy is 
provided at retirement after age 55 with at least 10 years of service.

As of June 30, 2019, the Company has frozen the pension plan. The Post- 
Retirement Medical and Life Insurance plans were not affected by the 
 pension plan decision. The defined benefit to employees will be based on 
amounts contributed by the Company up to this date.
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The movements in term debt are as follows for the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023:

in thousands of dollars  

Balance as of December 31, 2023 17,304,903

Issues 9,098,240

Repayments (4,148,980)

Accrued interest payable 102,304

Change in fees amortized by the effective interest method (25,698)

Fair value change due to hedge accounting 1,735

Balance as of December 31, 2024 22,332,504

in thousands of dollars  

Balance as of December 31, 2022 16,991,817

Issues 3,118,625

Repayments (3,242,408)

Accrued interest payable 34,200

Change in fees amortized by the effective interest method (2,668)

Fair value change due to hedge accounting 405,337

Balance as of December 31, 2023 17,304,903

(e) Term Debt and Line of Credit
Term debt consists of the following at December 31, 2024:

Interest Currency

Issue volume 
in thousands 

in relevant 
currency

Weighted 
 average  

maturity period  
(in years)

Weighted  
average nominal 

interest rate 
(in %)

Variable USD 2,800,000 2.4 5.3

Fixed USD 17,345,000 6.8 4.1

Fixed EUR 2,500,000 8.0 2.8

The carrying amounts of term debt due in the following five fiscal years, and 
thereafter, are as follows as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

2024 2023

in thousands of dollars Carrying amounts Carrying amounts

Maturity:   

Due within one year 4,424,509 4,283,841

Due between one and five years 13,053,611 9,589,283

Due later than five years 4,854,384 3,431,779

Total 22,332,504 17,304,903
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Bond discount and private placement fees incurred related to the issuance 
of term debt are taken into account when initially recording the term debt 
and are recognized in the statements of comprehensive income / (loss) as 
interest expense under the effective interest rate method over the remaining 
lives of the debt. Bond discount is the difference between the face value and 
the proceeds received when the term debt is issued below face value. Private 
placement fees relate to legal and administrative fees associated with the 
issuance of the term debt.

(f) Derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities
The Company enters into payer interest rate swaps, combined interest / cur-
rency swaps and option agreements with both BMW Group companies and 
external parties to manage and hedge its interest rate exposure arising from 
mismatches between the interest earned on non-derivative financial assets 
and the interest paid on non-derivative financial liabilities. Floating rates 
are fixed periodically and are based on USD secured overnight financing 
rate (SOFR) as published by The New York Federal Reserve. Depending on 
the respective hedge relationship interest rate swaps and combined inter-
est / currency swaps are accounted for as designated hedging instruments 
applying hedge accounting as well as stand-alone financial derivatives 
 categorized as FVPL. 

In addition, foreign exchange forward and swap agreements are concluded 
with affiliates and external parties to hedge foreign exchange rate risk. In 
general, the Company concludes foreign exchange derivatives with external 
parties and simultaneously enters into reciprocal contracts with its affiliates 
in order to manage currency risk on the level of the affiliates.

Term Debt by Category:

in thousands of dollars 2024 2023

Debt part of a fair value hedge relationship 19,508,317 14,581,135

Debt at amortized cost 2,824,187 2,723,768

Total 22,332,504 17,304,903

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company has adjusted the carrying value of 
term debt subject to fair value hedges by the change in fair value to the risk 
being hedged as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. At Decem-
ber 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the resulting adjustment decreased 
the related value of the underlying debt by $633,766k and $732,941k re-
spectively. Concurrently with this adjustment, the derivative instruments 
classified as fair value hedges were carried at fair value with changes in fair 
value recorded through earnings.

At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, $22,332,504k and 
$17,304,903k respectively, of the unsecured debt is guaranteed by BMW 
AG. The Company has access to a syndicated credit line, which underwent 
renewal in June 2023. This credit line, totaling €8 billion, remains accessible 
until June 2028 without the need to exercise extension options. It is facili-
tated by a consortium consisting of 43 international banks. As of December 
31, 2024, no funds had been drawn from this credit facility.
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Interest income with third parties relates to derivatives and bank deposits. 
Interest expense with third parties relates to derivatives, interest on debt 
and commercial paper.

(b) Financial Result
The caption “Financial Result” in the statements of comprehensive in-
come / (loss) includes: the liquidity fee between BMW US Capital and 
BMW AG, the fee remitted to BMW AG to guarantee the unsecured debt, 
and foreign exchange gains and losses on operational transactions, stand-
alone interest rate derivatives, fair value adjustments of hedged items, debt 
and other financial instruments. Operational transactions include routine 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies.

in thousands of dollars 2024 2023

Liquidity fee 125,570 96,491

Gains on stand-alone interest rate  
derivatives 95,276 97,716

Gains on fair value adjustments from  
applying hedge accounting 502,635 616,907

Foreign exchange gains on term debt 116,837 –

Foreign exchange gains on other financial 
instruments 11,019 22,493

Total gains 851,337 833,607

Guarantee fee (27,328) (22,764)

Losses on stand-alone interest rate  
derivatives (169,388) (285,640)

Losses on fair value adjustments from  
applying hedge accounting (529,884) (413,724)

Foreign exchange losses on term debt (3,269) (19,715)

Foreign exchange losses on other financial 
instruments (53,451) (29,196)

Total losses (783,320) (771,039)

Total 68,017 62,568

The below table summarizes the Company’s derivative notional amounts 
and corresponding fair values:

2024 2023

in thousands of dollars Notional Fair value Notional Fair value

Derivative assets     

Interest rate derivatives 16,344,733 213,354 17,050,875 295,403

Foreign exchange rate 
derivatives – – – –

Total 16,344,733 213,354 17,050,875 295,403

2024 2023

in thousands of dollars Notional Fair value Notional Fair value

Derivative liabilities     

Interest rate derivatives 35,150,854 1,165,413 24,061,272 1,020,051

Foreign exchange rate 
derivatives – – 158,581 3,650

Total 35,150,854 1,165,413 24,219,853 1,023,701

Additional information is provided in note ↗ 7(c).

4 Notes on the Items of the Comprehensive Income Statement
(a) Interest income and expense 
Interest income with BMW Group Companies relates to loans to affiliates, 
derivatives and factoring of short-term BMW AG trade receivables. The fac-
tored receivable is accounted for at amortized cost. The company earns a 
premium which is the difference between the present value and face value 
of the receivable factored and is earned as the receivable comes due (terms 
30–90 days). Interest expense with BMW Group Companies relates to loans 
with affiliates and derivatives.
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The components of deferred taxes for the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023 are as follows:

in thousands of dollars 2024 2023

Deferred tax assets:   

Accrued employee bonus 116 117

Pension 25 14

Deferred income 4,987 5,468

Credit reserve 816 744

Derivative instruments 20,103 5,835

Total deferred tax assets 26,047 12,178

The following table presents a reconciliation between the reported income 
taxes and the income taxes which would be computed by applying the 
 normal federal tax rate to income before taxes:

in thousands of dollars 2024 2023

Net (loss) before provision for income taxes 14,932 30,644

Applicable statutory federal income tax rate 21% 21%

Computed federal income tax (3,136) (6,436)

State income tax (1,158) (635)

Others (1) (1)

Effect of tax rate change (110) 53

Total income tax expense (4,405) (7,019)

(c) Income taxes
The Company’s federal and state income tax payments are made by BMW 
(US) Holding Corp. as part of a consolidated tax return. Included in Payables 
to BMW Group companies at December 31, 2024 is $12,940k of current 
income tax payable. At December 31, 2023 a current income tax payable of 
$12,344k is included in Payables from BMW Group companies. The provision 
for federal, and state income taxes for the periods ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023 consists of the following:

in thousands of dollars 2024 2023

Current:   

Federal (10,004) (10,583)

State and local (2,936) (1,761)

 (12,940) (12,344)

Deferred:   

Federal 7,205 4,301

State and local 1,330 1,024

 8,535 5,325

Total income tax expense (4,405) (7,019)

The effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was 
29.50% and 22.91%, respectively. The deferred tax benefit from OCI 
amounts $5,334k in 2024.
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consideration of the respective measurement categories according to 
IFRS 9:

5 Additional Disclosures to Financial Instruments
The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the 
Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2024 and 2023 under 

2024  
in thousands of dollars Category Carrying amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial instruments included on the statement of 
financial position:       

Non-current financial assets:       

Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 11,924,567 11,256,285 – 11,256,285 –

Derivative assets       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 137,764 137,764 – 137,764 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 24,588 24,588 – 24,588 –

Current financial assets:       

Cash AC 1,271,753 1,271,753 1,271,753 – –

Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 22,401,317 20,006,748 – 20,006,748 –

Derivative assets       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 33,316 33,316 – 33,316 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 17,686 17,686 – 17,686 –

Non-current financial liabilities:       

Term debt AC 17,907,995 18,765,583 – 18,765,583 –

Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 425,000 429,970 – 429,970 –

Derivative liabilities       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 131,147 131,147 – 131,147 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 924,981 924,981 – 924,981 –

Current financial liabilities:       

Term debt AC 4,424,509 4,168,880 – 4,168,880 –

Commercial paper AC 1,914,801 1,914,801 – 1,914,801 –

Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 9,761,733 9,780,391 – 9,780,391 –

Derivative liabilities       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 28,636 28,636 – 28,636 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 80,649 80,649 – 80,649 –
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2023 
in thousands of dollars Category Carrying amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial instruments included on the statement of 
financial position:       

Non-current financial assets:       

Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 9,741,542 10,025,871 – 10,025,871 –

Derivative assets       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 86,001 86,001 – 86,001 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 81,706 81,706 – 81,706 –

Current financial assets:       

Cash AC 538,232 538,232 538,232 – –

Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 21,244,302 21,266,637 – 21,266,637 –

Derivative assets       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 4,497 4,497 – 4,497 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 123,199 123,199 – 123,199 –

Non-current financial liabilities:       

Term debt AC 13,021,062 13,736,388 – 13,736,388 –

Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 537,308 542,429 – 542,429 –

Derivative liabilities       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 93,648 93,648 – 93,648 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 859,762 859,762 – 859,762 –

Current financial liabilities:       

Term debt AC 4,283,841 4,280,201 – 4,280,201 –

Commercial paper AC 2,205,545 2,205,545 – 2,205,545 –

Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 10,516,373 10,521,335 – 10,521,335 –

Derivative liabilities       

Thereof stand-alone FVPL 7,884 7,884 – 7,884 –

Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 62,407 62,407 – 62,407 –
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The Company measures the fair value of the financial instruments based on 
the fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 
making the measurement:

Level 1:  Level 1 inputs are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active mar-
kets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company can access 
at the measurement date.

Level 2:  Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly. The fair value of financial instruments in Level 2 are 
based on valuation techniques using observable inputs, either 
 directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) at the 
measurement date.

Level 3:  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. The 
fair value of financial instruments in Level 3 are based on valuation 
techniques using significant unobservable inputs.

The Company generally uses the discounted cash flow model as the valu-
ation technique to determine the fair value of financial instruments at the 
measurement date. The objective of the valuation technique is to arrive at 
a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. Essential observable inputs 
used in this valuation technique include observable current market variables, 
such as interest rates, credit risk and foreign exchange rates.

Derivatives are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy using the 
discounted cash flow model to determine the fair value using yield curves 
of the cash flow currency and relevant credit spreads. 

For non-current non-derivative financial assets and liabilities (such as re-
ceivables / liabilities from BMW Group companies and term debt) the fair 
value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is measured by dis-
counting the future principal and interest cash flows using a market rate of 
interest for similar risk and matching maturity as well as relevant credit 

spreads at the reporting date. Therefore these fair values are allocated as 
Level 2.

For reasons of materiality, the fair value of current non-derivative financial 
assets and liabilities is generally deemed to be approximated by the carry-
ing amount.

For the periods ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of the 
financial instruments has been measured by using either Level 1 or Level 2 
inputs.

The transfers between the level of the fair value hierarchy are reported at 
the respective reporting dates. There have been no transfers between the 
levels during the reporting period.

The following table shows net gains and losses by category:

in thousands of dollars 2024 2023

Financial instruments measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 74,112 184,820

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 1,672,457 1,113,700

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost (1,400,720) (1,140,366)

Net gains and losses from financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss are composed of derivative financial instruments not included in a 
hedging relationship.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost are subject to 
changes in fair value that are recognized through profit or loss due to des-
ignated hedging relationships. These changes in fair value are largely neu-
tralized by the offsetting changes in fair value arising on hedging trans-
actions and for this reason are not recognized in net gains and losses. Net 
gains and losses from financial assets at amortized cost include interest 
income as well as impairment losses. Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
only include interest expense.
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BMW AG guarantees the unsecured debt of the Company, for this the Com-
pany remits a fee to BMW AG. The guarantee fee of 12.5bps is defined based 
upon a transfer pricing policy and arm’s length principle defined by BMW AG 
and it is remitted from the Company to BMW AG on a monthly basis. For the 
periods ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 the amount paid for this guar-
antee was $27,328k and $22,764k respectively. 

The Company provides a factoring service of short-term inter-group BMW 
AG trade receivables. For this service the Company earns a commission 
equal to 0.05% of the receivables. The Company also earns interest which 
is equal to the designed benchmark rate for maturities between 30 and 
90 days plus a defined margin. The defined margin is set by the Company 
monthly and is communicated to seller at the beginning of each month. 

The Company earns interest on loans granted to affiliates and pays interest 
on loans received from affiliates. The interest rate is defined according to 
the BMW Group pricing policies and based upon the Arm’s length principle 
plus a defined margin which is derived from BMW Group borrowing costs 
and service fees. For the periods ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 the 
Company received interest in the amounts of $1,972,897k, and $1,267,654k. 
For the same periods, the Company paid interest in the amounts of 
$866,824k, and $647,503k respectively. 

For the periods ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 the Company received 
a liquidity fee from BMW AG related to its business model of $125,570k, and 
$96,491k respectively. The liquidity fee is to mitigate volatility that arises 
from asset / liability maturity mismatches and to keep the Company’s return 
on assets (RoA) at arm’s length principle.

For the periods ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the 
disclosure requirements of IAS 24 only affect the Company with regard to 
relationships with the Parent, affiliated entities, and members of manage-
ment and officers.

The below table represents the offsetting of financial instruments, which 
have the following impact on the carrying amounts of derivatives:

2024 2023

in thousands of dollars

Reported on 
assets  

side

Reported on 
liabilities  

side

Reported on 
assets  

side

Reported on 
liabilities 

side

Balance sheet  
amounts as reported 213,354 1,165,413 295,403 1,023,701

Gross amount of derivatives 
which can be offset in case  
of insolvency (52,493) (52,493) (178,037) (178,037)

Net amount after offsetting 160,861 1,112,920 117,366 845,664

6 Related Parties
In accordance with IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures), related individuals 
or entities, which have the ability to control the Company or which are con-
trolled by the Company, must be disclosed unless such parties are already 
included in the financial statements as affiliated companies. Control is de-
fined as ownership of more than one half of the voting power of the Com-
pany or the power to direct, by statute or agreement, the financial and 
 operating policies of the management of the Company.

The disclosure requirements of IAS 24 also cover transactions with associ-
ates, joint ventures, and individuals that have the ability to exercise signif-
icant influence over the financial and operating policies of the Company. 

In addition, the requirements contained in IAS 24 relating to key manage-
ment personnel and close members of their families or intermediary entities 
are also applied.
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Risk Management
The exposure of the Company can be broken down into two main categories: 
financial and nonfinancial risks.

(i) Financial Risks
The formal procedures and policies operated by the Company to cover bank, 
credit, interest rate, foreign exchange, and other treasury matters are con-
sistent with objectives and policies for the financial risk management 
 within BMW AG. The Company’s policy is not to take positions in derivative 
 financial instruments with the aim of profit realization. On a daily basis, the 
Company measures the risk of outstanding positions, which are managed 
within the established limits in compliance with the BMW AG policies. 
 Financial risks arise mainly from credit, liquidity and market risks including 
currency and interest rate risks.

(a) Credit Risk
The Company is exposed to credit risk because of its group external business 
operation and financing activities within the BMW Group. Credit risk is the 
risk of financial loss to the Company if any counterparty fails to meet its 
contractual obligations associated with a financial instrument. This risk is 
partly mitigated by entering into financial instruments only with parties, 
which have the investment grade credit standing. Further, the Company 
participates in a comprehensive limit system that assesses and limits the 
credit exposure to any single external counterparty on an ongoing basis. 
The Company continually monitors its position to ensure that it stays  within 
the credit exposure limits set by BMW AG. 

The maximum credit risk is reflected by the carrying amount of the financial 
assets recognized in the balance sheet. Expected Credit Losses (ECL) ac-
cording to IFRS 9 are determined using the general approach for receivables 
from BMW Group companies based on historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors as well as general 

The related party balances for the years periods ended December 31, 2024 
and December 31, 2023 were as follows:

in thousands of dollars 2024 2023

Receivable from BMW AG 166,217 58,389

All other receivables from  
BMW Group companies 34,159,667 30,927,455

Total 34,325,884 30,985,844

Liabilities due to BMW AG – –

All other liabilities due to  
BMW Group companies 10,186,733 11,053,681

Total 10,186,733 11,053,681

The Company did not enter into any contracts with any member of manage-
ment or officers. The same applies to close members of the families of those 
persons. For the periods ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 the remuner-
ation of key management is $1,381k and $1,523k respectively. The remuner-
ation consists of:

in thousands of dollars 2024 2023*

Short-term employee benefits 1,333 1,477

Post-employment benefits 48 46

Total 1,381 1,523

*Prior year figures adjusted.
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Considering the stable portfolio of the receivables from BMW Group com-
panies and the mostly unchanged circumstances regarding the inputs, as-
sumptions and estimation techniques for calculating the expected credit 
losses, no material changes in the recognized loss allowance were deter-
mined as of December 31, 2024. Due to the change in balances of the Group 
receivables the expected credit loss increased year-over-year by $327k to 
($3,363k).

(b) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting 
its financial obligations as they come due. With its access to the BMW AG 
Euro Medium Term Note Program, as well as its commercial paper program 
and short term deposits, the Company has ample resources to mitigate this 
risk. The Company believes it has a comprehensive funding strategy that 
incorporates a diverse set of funding options.

 economic conditions. Due to the structure of the debtors encompassing 
mostly BMW Group companies the credit risk is deemed to be low. Therefore, 
the company does not hold any material collaterals or other credit enhance-
ments. Other than the credit risk exposure resulting from the BMW Group 
companies, there are no material concentrations of credit risk in the Com-
pany. The amounts in the below table have an S&P credit rating of A. 

The Company recognized the following loss allowance for receivables from 
BMW Group companies as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively:

2024 
in thousands of dollars

Stage 1 
12 month ECL

Stage 2 
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL  

(credit-impaired)

Cash and cash  
equivalents 1,271,753   

Receivables from  
BMW Group companies    

Gross carrying 
amounts 34,329,247 – –

Recognized loss 
allowances (3,363) – –

Total 35,597,637 – –

2023  
in thousands of dollars

Stage 1 
12 month ECL

Stage 2 
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL  

(credit-impaired)

Cash and cash  
equivalents 538,232   

Receivables from  
BMW Group companies    

Gross carrying 
amounts 30,988,881 – –

Recognized loss 
allowances (3,037) – –

Total 31,524,076 – –
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Future cash flows  
at December 31, 2023 
 
in thousands of dollars

Maturity 
within  

one year 

Maturity 
between 

one and five 
years

Maturity 
later than 
five years Total

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities     

Term debt 4,150,000 9,928,750 3,820,000 17,898,750

Interest payments  
on term debt 600,140 1,250,982 362,592 2,213,714

Commercial paper 2,210,000 – – 2,210,000

Loans due to  
BMW Group companies 10,740,303 552,385 – 11,292,688

Loans-external – – – –

Total 17,700,443 11,732,117 4,182,592 33,615,152

Derivative  
financial liabilities     

With gross settlement 30,373 32,355 – 62,728

Cash outflows 202,883 818,510 – 1,021,393

Cash inflows 172,510 786,155 – 958,665

With net settlement 292,916 650,224 118,214 1,061,354

Cash outflows 292,916 650,224 118,214 1,061,354

Total 323,289 682,579 118,214 1,124,082

Cash outflows from derivatives concluded as part of hedging relationships 
are also taken into account.

The following table shows how the undiscounted cash flows relating to 
 financial liabilities and derivatives affect the Company’s liquidity position as 
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively:

Future cash flows  
at December 31, 2024 
 
in thousands of dollars

Maturity 
within  

one year 

Maturity 
between 

one and five 
years

Maturity 
later than 
five years Total

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities     

Term debt 4,165,000 13,316,325 5,257,550 22,738,875

Interest payments  
on term debt 854,144 1,832,455 584,327 3,270,926

Commercial paper 1,921,250 – – 1,921,250

Loans due to  
BMW Group companies 10,482,563 434,027 – 10,916,590

Loans-external 5,787 – – 5,787

Total 17,428,744 15,582,807 5,841,877 38,853,428

Derivative  
financial liabilities     

With gross settlement 72,783 218,210 109,816 400,809

Cash outflows 144,115 1,987,233 1,322,453 3,453,801

Cash inflows 71,332 1,769,023 1,212,637 3,052,992

With net settlement 304,889 744,937 84,493 1,134,319

Cash outflows 304,889 744,937 84,493 1,134,319

Total 377,672 963,147 194,309 1,535,128
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At December 31, 2024 and, 2023, the Company had foreign currency forward 
and swap contracts with external parties to buy and / or sell foreign curren-
cies with notional amounts totaling approximately $0k and $158,581k, re-
spectively. The fair value of these contracts at December 31, 2024 and De-
cember 31, 2023 was $0k and $3,650k, respectively. The currency exposure 
at December 31, 2024 and, 2023 is detailed below. Hedge Accounting is not 
applied to account for these economic hedge relationships at December 31, 
2024 and, 2023.

2024 
in thousands  
(all currencies)

Non-derivative 
financial assets

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities

Derivative financial 
instruments

CAD 1,088,286 (149,272) (270,000)

MXN 468,282 (306,201) –

EUR – (2,500,000) –

2023 
in thousands  
(all currencies)

Non-derivative 
financial assets

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities

Derivative financial 
instruments

CAD 869,715 (275,042) (320,000)

MXN 192,231 (280,448) –

EUR – (500,000) 500,000

(c) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk from changes in market prices, such as foreign ex-
change rates, interest rates, and credit spreads, which will affect the Com-
pany’s income or the value of its holdings of the financial instruments. The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposure within acceptable limits.

Increases in credit spreads could arise from changes in demand for term 
debt instruments in capital markets, the removal of the unconditional and 
irrevocable guarantees of BMW AG for the debt issuance programs in which 
the Company participates, a weakening credit profile of the BMW Group, 
and a decreasing willingness of banks to provide credit lines and loans. This 
risk is managed centrally within the BMW Group with a wide range of orga-
nizational components to identify and mitigate such events.

Currency Risk
Currency risk refers to the potential changes of value or cash flows in finan-
cial assets and liabilities including derivatives in response to fluctuations in 
exchange rates. The Company manages this risk for its affiliates by entering 
into forward, swap and option contracts denominated in foreign currencies 
with third parties, which are used to hedge certain operating cycle commit-
ments in accordance with the cash flow exposure strategy managed by BMW 
AG. Simultaneously, the Company enters into reciprocal contracts with af-
filiates. Therefore, no material net gain or loss is realized by the Company. 
In addition, the Company utilizes foreign exchange rate derivatives to hedge 
foreign exchange rate exposures arising from foreign currency loans.
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interest rates from fixed to floating. Furthermore, interest rate risk is man-
aged through economic hedges, using derivative financial instruments. To 
manage the maturity gaps, appropriate interest rate derivatives are used.

As a result of the ongoing reform and replacement of specific benchmark 
interest rates, uncertainty remains regarding the timing and exact nature of 
those changes. Overall, a considerable number of contracts within the Com-
pany are directly affected by the reform of benchmark interest rates. Hedg-
ing relationships within the Company are based primarily on USD LIBOR 
reference interest rates, whereby those rates are designated as the hedged 
risk in fair value hedges. In the case of these hedging relationships, uncer-
tainty arises with respect to the identifiability of the designated benchmark 
interest rates. 

All interest rate derivative instruments not formally designated as hedging 
instruments in hedging relationships are recorded at fair value with the 
changes in fair value recognized in the financial result on the statements of 
comprehensive income or loss. The fair value of these interest rate derivative 
positions are reflected as of December 31, 2024 and, 2023 in interest rate 
derivative assets in the amount of $171,080k and $90,498, respectively, 
and interest rate derivative liabilities in the amount of $159,783k and 
$97,882k, respectively. The realized and unrealized loss on stand-alone 
interest rate derivatives was $74,112k in 2024 and gain of $187,924k in 2023. 

For those hedging relationships for which fair value hedge accounting is 
applied according to IFRS 9, the fixed rate debt designated as hedged item 
are accounted for as an amount equal to the amortized cost and an amount 
representing the change in fair value of the interest rate risk being hedged 
(basis adjustment). Changes in the fair value of interest rate swap contracts 
and the offsetting changes in the adjusted carrying value of the related 
portion of the fixed rate debt being hedged are recognized in the statement 
of comprehensive income or loss. The ineffective portion of a fair value hedge 
is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The sensitivity of the Company’s results to changes in foreign currencies 
against the functional currency shows: 

2024 
Currency

Effects on result of a 10% 
rise in the USD against the 

respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)

Effects on result of a 10% 
decrease in the USD against 

the respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)

CAD (42,293) 51,692

MXN (710) 868

EUR – –

2023 
Currency

Effects on result of a 10% 
rise in the USD against the 

respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)

Effects on result of a 10% 
decrease in the USD against 

the respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)

CAD (18,850) 23,039

MXN 473 (578)

EUR – –

The sensitivity analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular inter-
est rates, remain the same. A concentration of currency risk has not been 
identified.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk refers to potential changes of value in non-derivative finan-
cial assets and liabilities including derivatives in response to fluctuations in 
interest rates. The Company holds a substantial volume of interest rate sen-
sitive non-derivative financial assets and liabilities for operational and 
 financial activities. Changes in interest rates can have adverse effects on 
the financial position and operating result of the Company. In order to mit-
igate the impact of interest rate risk, the Company aims in general to change 
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The following table provides information on the nominal amounts, carrying 
amounts and fair value changes of derivative financial instruments desig-
nated as hedging instruments:

Carrying amounts / Fair values

2024 
in thousands of dollars

Nominal 
amounts

Derivative 
assets

Derivative 
liabilities

Change in 
fair value of 
designated 

components 
in reporting 

period for 
determining 
ineffective-

ness

Fair value hedges     

Interest rate risks 29,920,000 42,274 883,121 19,334

Combined interest rate /   
currency risk 2,593,875 – 122,509 46,817

Carrying amounts / Fair values

2023 
in thousands of dollars

Nominal 
amounts

Derivative 
assets

Derivative 
liabilities

Change in 
fair value of 
designated 

components 
in reporting 

period for 
determining 
ineffective-

ness

Fair value hedges     

Interest rate risks 28,320,000 204,905 895,884 97,676

Combined interest rate /   
currency risk 553,750 – 26,285 22,061

The nominal amounts of hedging instruments at December 31, 2024 and 
2023 were as follows:

2024 
in thousands of dollars

Maturity within  
one year

Maturity between 
one and five years

Maturity later than 
five years

Nominal amounts of 
hedging instruments    

Interest rate swaps 6,715,000 18,985,000 4,220,000

Combined interest /   
currency swaps – 1,556,325 1,037,550

2023 
in thousands of dollars

Maturity within  
one year

Maturity between 
one and five years

Maturity later than 
five years

Nominal amounts of 
hedging instruments    

Interest rate swaps 9,450,000 15,050,000 3,820,000

Combined interest /   
currency swaps – 553,750 –
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The following table summarizes key information on hedged items for each 
risk category:

2024 
in thousands of dollars

Carrying amount of hedged 
items (incl. cumulative fair 

value hedge adjustment)

Balance of cumulative  
adjustments to the carrying 

amount of the designated  
fair value hedges

Change in the fair value of the 
hedged items for determining 

ineffectiveness in the  
reporting period

Change in the FV of the 
hedged item for determining 

hedge ineffectiveness, where 
hedging relationships termi-
nated in the reporting period

Fair value hedges     

Receivables from BMW Group companies 12,566,718 (8,282) 29,698 94,283

Term debt (16,664,364) 641,656 (12,918) (40,290)

Combined interest rate / currency risk     

Term debt (2,592,798) (7,890) (45,968) –

Total (6,690,444) 625,484 (29,188) 53,993

2023 
in thousands of dollars

Carrying amount of hedged 
items (incl. cumulative fair 

value hedge adjustment)

Balance of cumulative  
adjustments to the carrying 

amount of the designated  
fair value hedges

Change in the fair value of the 
hedged items for determining 

ineffectiveness in the  
reporting period

Change in the FV of the 
hedged item for determining 

hedge ineffectiveness, where 
hedging relationships termi-
nated in the reporting period

Fair value hedges     

Receivables from BMW Group companies 13,392,737 (132,263) 228,329 173,395

Term debt (14,068,022) 694,864 (321,402) (41,766)

Combined interest rate / currency risk     

Term debt (513,113) 38,077 (22,454) –

Total (1,188,398) 600,678 (115,527) 131,629

The recorded ineffectiveness in the financial result in the income statement 
amounts to $105k in the reporting year and $42,235k in prior year published 
report and mainly results from currency basis adjustments and late desig-
nations of interest rate swaps.
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and daily cash flows and process payments to internal and external coun-
terparties. System failures can result in delays in payment processing. Fur-
ther operational risk can arise from the settlement of financial transactions. 
The management of daily cash flows at the Company depends on the  timely 
receipt of funds from external institutions who act as counterparties of 
 financial transactions, such as bonds, swaps, or other derivative financial 
instruments. To mitigate negative impacts of system failures, all key systems 
are set up in parallel and / or have backup facilities.

(a) Capital Management
The Company’s objectives, when managing capital at an individual  company 
level, are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stake-
holders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of 
capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company 
may issue new shares or adjust the amount of dividends paid to share-
holders. The Company has no prescribed dividend policy. 

The Company’s equity, as disclosed on the face of the statement of financial 
position, constitutes its capital. The Company maintains its level of capital 
by reference to its financial obligations and commitments arising from op-
erations requirements. In view of the extent of the Company’s borrowings 
or debt, the capital level as at the end of the reporting period is deemed 
adequate by the board of management of the Company.

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management 
during the first half of the year. The Company is not subject to externally 
imposed capital requirements.

(b) Concentration of Risk
No concentration of risk was identified that would be relevant to financial 
statement readers.

The cost of hedging reserve, showing the not designated components, has 
developed as follows:

2024 2023

in thousands of dollars Cost of hedging Cost of hedging

Balance at January 1 2,666 1,984

Reclassification to profit or loss 22,034 912

Deferred taxes (5,336) (230)

Balance at December 31 19,364 2,666

The fair value of the Company’s interest rate portfolio, which represents the 
net present value of all future, fixed cash flows, including loans, deposits, 
and derivative financial instruments, was $(1,692,598)k as of December 31, 
2024 and $(597,838)k as of December 31, 2023. A one basis point move-
ment in interest rates would have increased or decreased this valuation at 
December 31, 2024 by $(154)k and by $26k at December 31, 2023.

The Company assesses its interest rate exposure by using a value at risk 
analysis. This is based on a historical simulation, in which the potential 
future fair value losses of the interest rate portfolio are compared with ex-
pected amounts on the basis of a holding period of 250 days and a con-
fidence level of 99.98%. For year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the 
potential volume of fair value fluctuations measured on the basis of the 
value at risk approach was $23,205k and $50,917k, respectively.

(ii) Nonfinancial Risks
Nonfinancial risks could arise from the Company’s operations. Operational 
risks mainly result from the use of computer systems and information tech-
nology. The Company uses computer systems to monitor financial positions 
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under the indirect method (profit or loss for the period reconciled to the 
total net cash flow from operating activities). Under this method, changes 
in assets and liabilities relating to operating activities are adjusted for cur-
rency translation effects. The cash flows from investing and financing ac-
tivities are based on actual payments and receipts.

Liabilities related to financing activities can be reconciled as follows:

7 Cash Flow
The statements of cash flows show how the cash and cash equivalents of 
the Company have changed during the year as a result of cash inflows and 
cash outflows. In accordance with IAS 7, cash flows are classified into cash 
flows from operating, investing and financing activities. The Company’s 
purpose is to assist the financing of the activities conducted by companies 
of the BMW Group. The cash flows from operating activities are presented 

in thousands of dollars 2023 Cash flows Accrued interest Foreign exchange 
Fair value  

adjustments Fee amortization 2024

Term debt 17,304,903 4,949,260 102,304 (113,568) 115,303 (25,698) 22,332,504

Commercial paper 2,205,545 (289,743) (1,001) – – – 1,914,801

 19,510,448 4,659,517 101,303 (113,568) 115,303 (25,698) 24,247,305

8 Segment Information
According to the definition of an operating segment under IFRS 8 and as 
presented in Note (1) Nature of Operations, BMW US Capital, LLC has one 
segment, and figures included in the statements of comprehensive in-
come / (loss) represent the nature and financial effects of the business ac-
tivities. Regarding the major customers and the geographical areas we 
refer to Note (1).

9 Additional Disclosures
During 2024, no events have occurred, that could be considered unusual 
due to their nature, size or incidence, that have not been disclosed in pre-
vious notes and that could have a major impact on the earnings perfor-
mance, financial position and net assets of the Company. There have been 
no changes in the composition of the Company during 2024. The Company 
did not become an investment entity under the definition of IFRS 10.
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10 Contingent Liabilities
As of December 31, 2024, the Company confirms that there are no contingent 
liabilities requiring disclosure in the financial statements. The Company dil-
igently reviewed all relevant records, contracts, and guarantees, ensuring 
compliance with accounting standards. While the Company remains com-
mitted to transparency, it is possible that future events may give rise to 
contingent liabilities. The company will continue to remain vigilant in mon-
itoring and assessing any potential contingencies that may arise.

11 Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events for potential recognition, 
measurement, or disclosure in the financial statements occurring after the 
reported period through the date of this report April 25, 2025 and con-
cluded no such events occurred.

BMW US Capital, LLC

April 25, 2025
Helena von Gladiss
President
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